SMART guide and briefing paper

A methodology and results paper on the Strategic Mitigation Adaptation Resilience Tool (SMART) for planning

September 2018



Founding partners Monash University and The Myer Foundation

About us

ClimateWorks Australia

ClimateWorks Australia is an expert, independent adviser, acting as a bridge between research and action to enable new approaches and solutions that accelerate the transition to net zero emissions for Australia and Asia Pacific.

It was co-founded in 2009 by The Myer Foundation and Monash University and works within the Monash Sustainable Development Institute. ClimateWorks Australia also benefits from strong relationships with an international network of affiliated organisations that support effective policies, financing and action for greenhouse gas emissions reductions.

Since launch, ClimateWorks has made significant progress, engaging key decision makers from all tiers and sides of politics and business. Our collaborative, end-to-end approach to solutions that will deliver greatest impact is informed by a thorough understanding of the constraints of governments and the practical needs of business. This, combined with philanthropic funding and university ties, has earned the organisation an outstanding reputation as a genuine and impartial adviser.

In the pursuit of its mission, ClimateWorks looks for innovative opportunities to reduce emissions, analysing their potential then building an evidence-based case for action through a combination of robust research and analysis, clear and targeted engagement, and effective capacity strengthening. We support decision makers with tailored information and the tools they need, as well as work with key stakeholders to remove obstacles and help facilitate conditions that encourage and support the transition to a prosperous, net zero emissions future.

Acknowledgments

We thank 2050 Pathways Platform and The Institute for Sustainable Development and International Relations (IDDRI) for their generous support towards the development of the Strategic Mitigation, Adaptation and Resilience Tool (SMART) and this briefing paper. Along with 'Horizon to Horizon: A Pacific Island country guide to creating long term climate resilience, net zero emissions development and a sustainable future', these resources have been developed as a key resource for the 'Pacific 2050 Pathways Package' that was launched at COP 23 alongside the Fiji Presidency to support and build capacity within the Pacific Small Island Developing States to develop their respective strategy and enable them to carry forward the legacy of 'Majuro Declaration for Climate Leadership'.

We also acknowledge the insights shared by key stakeholders during development of this tool, some of whom participated in a peer review process. In particular, Ministerial representatives from Fiji, technical consultants working with The Republic of the Marshall Islands, as well as technical experts within the Pacific Island Forum Secretariat, United Nations Development Program, Global Green Growth Institute, Secretariat of the Pacific Regional Environment Programme, Pacific Community (SPC), Pacific Island Development Forum, IDDRI, Climate Analytics, World Resources Institute, Griffith University, Dr. Mark Stafford Smith (CSIRO), Evan Davies, Charlotte Sterrett (Oxfam Australia), Tu Tangi (Plan Pacific), Prof. John E. Hay (University of the Pacific), Richard Baron (European Climate Foundation), Trevor Ole (AECOM) and Prof. Nigel Tapper (Monash University).

Contents

Contents	3
Introduction	4
1.1 Background	4
1.2 Why use SMART for planning?	4
1.3 Methodology	5
1.4 How to use SMART	8
2. Summary of findings	9
2.1 Buildings sector	9
2.2 Transport sector	10
2.3 Manufacturing and Industry sector	12
2.4 Electricity supply	13
2.5 Non-energy / Land use	14
3. Assumptions underpinning the SMART Matrix	17
3.1 Common assumptions	17
3.2 Sectoral assumptions	17
4. References	19
1.1 Background 1.2 Why use SMART for planning? 1.3 Methodology 1.4 How to use SMART summary of findings 2.1 Buildings sector 2.2 Transport sector 2.3 Manufacturing and Industry sector 2.4 Electricity supply 2.5 Non-energy / Land use ssumptions underpinning the SMART Matrix 3.1 Common assumptions 3.2 Sectoral assumptions 17 seferences 19 sex A: Adaptation indicators 31	
Annex B: Resilience indicators	32
Annex C: Mitigation actions	33

1. Introduction

1.1 Background

Representing some of the countries' most vulnerable to the impacts of climate change, most Pacific Island Countries (PICs) rely on an iterative process of adaptation planning. Each has highly ambitious emissions targets enshrined within their Nationally Determined Contributions, and each now aims to meet these and energy security needs through implementing a range of mitigation actions. Adaptation and mitigation both aim to reduce the negative impacts of climate change, however they have typically been addressed separately in different policy and institutional contexts and sometimes thought of as competing priorities. Whilst PICs make a negligible contribution to global greenhouse gas emissions, developing long-term low emissions development strategies (LT-LEDS) provides an opportunity for these countries to achieve other development objectives, such as energy security, avoiding 'lock-in' and 'lock-out', and showcasing potential and economic resilience¹. By undertaking mid-century planning for LT-LEDS across the key policy areas of mitigation, adaptation, climate resilience and sustainable development, countries can design and implement a pathway that considers the interactions, synergies and trade-offs of all their national priorities.

However, integrated planning between adaptation and mitigation objectives may pose some challenges. Actions to mitigate or reduce a country's contribution to climate change can enhance or at times undermine efforts to adapt to climate change or boost climate resilience. The Strategic Mitigation Adaptation and Resilience Tool (SMART) matrix and the associated Briefing Paper highlight key interactions between mitigation actions and adaptation and resilience outcomes in a Pacific Island context, showing where countries can expect to find co-benefits and trade-offs.

1.2 Why use SMART matrix for planning?

The SMART Matrix and Briefing Paper (henceforth referred to as Tool) have been developed under the 'Pacific Package' funded via the 2050 Pathways group and aiming to support and build capacity within PICs to develop long-term low emissions pathways. By helping to identify the interlinkages between mitigation approaches and adaptation or resilience outcomes, this will help PIC planners and policy makers to identify where there are co-benefits to be realised and trade-offs that need to be considered or minimised in planning.

It is hoped that this Tool will assist in reducing some of the planning burden currently experienced among some PICs by enabling the quick identification of synergies between mitigation and adaptation related plans and activities. In this way, the Tool can also be used for other planning processes, such as national adaptation plans, energy roadmaps, national development plans and even project pipelines for climate finance. By building on existing strategies and processes, decision-makers can pursue more efficient use of resources.

 $^{^{}m 1}$ See more description of these advantages in 'Horizon to Horizon: A Pacific Island country guide to creating long term climate resilience, net zero emissions development and a sustainable future'

Decision makers can use the matrix to identify which mitigation actions can be expected to enhance or support key adaptation or resilience actions, indicating the potential for 'no regrets' or 'least regrets' actions in support of robust and integrated planning objectives. It also can be used to identify where interactions may vary over time, or change from positive to negative, depending on the country or technology choice, indicating an area for further investigation to inform planning processes. Finally, it highlights where interactions can be expected to be negative, and will therefore require a 'trade-off' choice, where either the mitigation action or the adaptation or resilience outcome is prioritised.

As impacts will vary over time scales and depending on the context of each Pacific island country, indicators are intended to provide high-level guidance flagging where further consideration of the technology choice or mitigation action may be required. Provided in Excel format, the tool can be downloaded and should be modified to suit specific country contexts and needs.

This Tool is to be used as part of a participatory process when undertaking:

- National Low Carbon / LT-LEDS Planning Strategies
- National Determined Contributions (NDCs)
- Global Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Inventories

The Tool can also provide further benefits to the following planning process:

- LT-LEDS processes
- NDC Implementation planning
- Framework for Resilient Development in the Pacific (FRDP)
- National strategic planning assessments
- National development planning
- Climate finance planning and project assessment frameworks

A note on terminology

The developers acknowledge that there are a number of different definitions for the terms Mitigation, Adaptation and Resilience, however the Tool and paper rely on the following definitions:

- Mitigation is defined as actions taken to reduce, avoid or sequester greenhouse gas emissions
- Adaptation is defined as any action taken to adjust to climate change
- Resilience is defined as the ability to recover from climate events

1.3 Methodology

The Tool responds to a gap for a mechanism that can assess the quality and evidence base of the mitigation, adaptation and resilience interactions that are specific to the Pacific Island context. From the outset, there has been a deliberate focus on mitigation to inform the 'anchor' actions as the Tool has been developed under the 'Pacific 2050 Pathways Package' which seeks to support the development of long term, low emissions pathways. SMART was developed in four stages:

Firstly, the Mitigation actions (See Annex B) were grouped into broad categories, based on the pillars of decarbonisation from the Deep Decarbonisation Pathways Project, listed below:



REDUCE ENERGY USE

Choose equipment and assets that use less energy and get more out of the energy that is used in areas such as buildings, manufacturing, transport and infrastructure.



SWITCH TO CLEANER FUELS

Once electricity is powered by clean energy, switch every energyusing activity you possibly can to electricity and everything else to low emissions alternatives (e.g. from diesel to biodiesel in transport).



PRODUCE CLEANER ELECTRICITY

Transition electricity generation away from imported fossil fuels to cleaner, locally produced low emissions sources such as solar, wind, hydro and bioenergy.



SORT OUT AND STORE THE REST

Reduce non-energy emissions like agriculture and refrigerant gases and capture and store remaining emissions through actions like restoring forests and blue-carbon ecosystems.

Then, the corresponding adaptation and resilience indicators (see Annex A) were summarised from evaluation of Pacific Island Countries Nationally Determined Contributions (NDC) indicators. The developers acknowledge that these indicators could be more detailed, and include social, cultural, environmental and economic factors. However, these were considered beyond the scope and focus of this Tool.

Then, each mitigation action was then considered against each adaptation and resilience indicator. Desktop-based research was undertaken to review potential co-benefits, barriers and trade-offs on both a Pacific regional scale and a global scale. Where available, specific case studies have been detailed. For the global evidence-base, benefits and trade-offs were sense checked against interactions with relevant Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) identified in the New Climate Institute's SDG Climate Action Nexus tool (SCAN-tool). The Tool contains a full set of references for both Pacific and global research.

Finally, after careful consideration of evidence base and qualitatively weighing the range of co-benefits, barriers and trade-offs, each mitigation action was assigned a status and colour base applying the following classification:

Table 1. Key to Indicators

+	Positive ("no regrets" actions)	Where these positive correlations exist, the planning task can then focus on ensuring these co-benefits are maximised.
+ or -	Varies + or - over temporal or spatial scales or dependent on technology choice	Trade-offs may not apply consistently across all countries or locations (spatial scales), may change over time, for example as climate impacts increase (temporal scales), or may be avoided or managed by technology choice. These interactions can often be managed or minimised with proper planning.
-	Negative	Some mitigation actions will always interact negatively with a given adaptation or resilience action, indicating a trade-off will need to be made. Depending on a Pacific Island Country's unique circumstances, either the mitigation outcome or the adaptation/resilience outcome must be prioritised.
	No known interactions	Based on desktop-based research, no known interactions have been identified. Due to knowledge and data gaps however, an interaction may potentially exist.

Mitigation actions were then further considered against each adaptation and resilience indicator in the SMART Matrix or 'heat map' that offers a quick assessment of the potential for different mitigation actions to deliver co-benefits against priority adaptation or resilience focus areas ('no regrets' or 'least regrets' actions). It also highlights where there are no interactions, or any that require further consideration.

Table 2. SMART Matrix

					Α	DAPTATIO	ON						F	RESILIENCI	Ē	
MITIGATION ACTIONS		Manage vulnerability to water shortages	Manage vulnerability to food shortages	Manage vulnerable ecosystems	Manage increased health risks	Manage costs of climate impacts	Manage exposure to extreme weather	Manage risks of temperature rise	Manage risks of flood	Manage exposure to sea level rise	Manage risks to economic productivity	Climate resilient infrastructure	Sustained energy security	Economic resilience	Sustained food security	Healthy & biodiverse ecosystems
Buildings																
Increase energy efficiency																
Urban Planning for energy efficiency																
Fuel switch away from fossil fuels																
Improved cookstoves																
Transport																
ROAD TRANSPORT																
Reduced demand for passenger transport																
Passenger transport modal shift																
Increase energy efficiency																
Fuel switch to hybrid vehicles and EVs																
Fuel switch to biofuels																
MARINE TRANSPORT																
Increase energy efficiency																
Fuel switch to low carbon shipping																
AVIATION																
Improve efficiency of aviation																
Fuel switch away from fossil fuels																
Manufacturing & Industry																
Increase energy efficiency																
Improve material efficiency																
Fuel switch away from fossil fuels																
Reduce process and fugitive emissions																
Low Carbon Electricity Supply																
Utility scale hydro																
Micro/Mini hydro																
Geothermal																
Solar PV (micro, mini and community scale)																
Utility scale solar PV																
Onshore wind																
Offshore wind																
Wave/tidal																
T&D efficiency improvements																
Battery storage																
ion-energy Emissions / Land Use & Waste																
Carbon farming																
Improved livestock management							=		-							

1.4 How to use the SMART Matrix

The SMART Matrix has been developed as an Excel-based tool to make it easily accessible and editable. While the Tool is specific to the Pacific, it is expected that users will make further modifications to suit their country context and need.

The Tool is divided into four sections:

- 1. How to use this Tool provides instructions on how the Tool should be used
- 2. The SMART Matrix provides a high level overview of the interactions of each mitigation action against each adaptation and resilience indicator. This 'heat map' allows for a quick assessment of the potential for different mitigation actions to deliver co-benefits against priority adaptation or resilience focus areas ('no regrets' or 'least regrets' actions). It also highlights any interactions that require further consideration.
- 3. Sector tabs (Buildings, Transport, Manufacturing, Low Carbon Electricity, Nonenergy emissions) provide more granular detail on these interactions, along with a detailed evidence base to support the assessment of interactions. The evidence base draws on both Pacific and global evidence, along with anecdotal expert input gathered through an expert review process for the tool. At the sector level each mitigation action is also assigned an overall indicator (based on Key Indicators in Table 1).
- 4. Assumptions are located in the final tab as a record of both the common and sector-specific assumptions that were made in assessing the interactions. These are also captured in Section 3 of this paper.

There are still potential interactions where caution must be taken, as well as potential knowledge gaps where, although no interactions are currently known, they do potentially exist. Where barriers exist for a 'no regrets' action, efforts to overcome these barriers will be needed in order to deliver potential multiple co-benefits.

Our approach and research findings were peer-reviewed by leading adaptation and mitigation experts from academia, government and non-government organisations. However, this Tool is a 'live' document that will be revised and adapted as it is utilised. We will endeavour to continue to test this Tool via various Pacific and global forums such as the Framework for Resilient Development in the Pacific (FRDP) and the SDG taskforce.

2. Summary of findings

A number of sector based findings were identified in the development of this Tool:

2.1 Buildings sector

There are a range of opportunities to undertake 'no regrets' or 'least regrets' actions in the building sector in PICs. These include improvements in energy efficiency, urban planning, fuel switching and improved cook stoves. In particular, energy efficiency in buildings can provide a wide range of socio-economic benefits such as:

- Managing health risks through improved indoor environmental quality,
- Reducing exposure to temperature rise,
- Direct savings on energy bills,
- The creation of jobs through investments in upgrading existing buildings and through increasing the energy efficiency of new buildings, improving economic productivity and resilience.

However, significant capacity constraints and other barriers are likely to hamper future efforts. For example, while the World Bank found that increasing the standards of new buildings can be considered a 'no regret' strategy (World Bank, 2017), addressing energy efficiency in buildings through building code regulations may not necessarily be the best option for the Pacific, given compliance is often difficult to enforce (ADB, 2011). Additionally, factors including a range of building types across the Pacific (including traditional structures using lightweight materials and prefabricated homes), as well as an increase in informal settlements, it may be difficult to apply one building code across a diverse range of construction types (Sharma, 2017).

Some PICs already have building codes, such as in Vanuatu and Fiji, but they have typically been designed after a series of extreme weather events in order to increase resilience to future disasters, with less focus on addressing mitigation and adaptation needs. In the case of Fiji, the building code does not mention adaptation or low carbon development. Therefore, there is an opportunity to integrate adaptation and mitigation into existing codes, as well as improve urban planning - it is generally cheaper to keep economic assets out of vulnerable areas than to build defences to protect them (World Bank, 2017). Currently, lack of technical capacity and harmonisation across urban planning agencies are key barriers to planning for efficient, resilient buildings.

The tropical climate in most of the Pacific means demand for heating is generally low, though significant amounts of energy are used for cooling and often, hot water. Passive energy efficiency achieved through cool roof technologies and the use of traditional building design to allow for natural airflow presents an opportunity to reduce energy demand for cooling. For example, biomass is already being used for water heating in Samoa and Tokelau (a territory of New Zealand). With significant cost reductions over the past few years, solar hot water systems also provide an opportunity for energy and cost savings in both commercial and residential applications (NREL, 2012). Nonetheless, there is still a need to find sustainable heating and cooling solutions in particular for one of the biggest energy users (and economic contributors); the tourism sector (Lucas et. al., 2017).

Reducing energy demand from buildings is also being pursued, as it is far less costly for PICs to import more efficient refrigerators, air conditioners and lights than to import diesel fuel (Farrell, 2015). There have been a range of appliance standards and labelling projects to increase energy efficiency across the Pacific Island region. It is estimated these will save PICs US\$525 million in fuel, generation & maintenance, 630 million litres of diesel and 1.7 million tonnes of emissions by 2025 (Farrell, 2015).

Where the capacity for biomass may be low for use at a large scale, there is enough biomass for traditional household cooking, which remains the largest component of overall energy use in rural areas throughout PICs (IRENA, 2013a). While some PICs have access to clean cooking technologies and fuels, in countries such as PNG, only 12.1 % of households having access to modern cooking fuel sources. Increasing the uptake of clean cook stoves is a win-win action as it can prevent respiratory disease from indoor air pollution, increase economic resilience and energy security while reducing CO2 emissions.

Table 3. Buildings sector 'no regrets' or 'least regrets' actions

- Increase energy efficiency
- Urban planning for energy efficiency
- Improved cook stoves

2.2 Transport sector

With transportation accounting for an average 75% of oil consumption in Pacific Island countries (Holland et. al., 2014), there is an urgent need for low carbon solutions in the sector, particularly in shipping. Using renewable energy technologies for commercial ships in the Pacific region would allow for fleets of smaller vessels to reach small ports and remote communities, which are currently not serviced by large ships (Holland et. al., 2014). This provides multiple economic, environmental, social, and cultural benefits. A reduction in marine pollution will help conserve ocean ecosystems such as mangroves and coral reefs that are critical in adapting to the impacts of climate change and increasing natural resilience to rising sea levels and extreme weather events. Further, reduced reliance on imported fossil fuel will contribute to macroeconomic growth, stability, aid poverty reduction, help in avoiding large balances of payment deficits and increase energy security. As PICs further rely heavily on imported foods and are vulnerable to rising food prices, reduced transport and fuel costs will alleviate compounding economic effects.

Current barriers to transitioning away from fossil fuel dependency in domestic shipping include a lack of sufficient incentives to adopt new technologies and a lack of research and working models of viable alternatives (Nuttel et. al., 2014). Additionally, the costs of retrofitting existing vessels with alternative technologies are likely to be prohibitive to most government and private shipping providers in the region without external assistance (Holland et. al., 2014).

As tourism dominates many PIC economies - accounting for 78.5% of GDP in the Cook Islands - the air transport industry is also crucial to the region (Nuttel et. al., 2014).

Reducing jet fuel use via improved efficiency measures would have economic benefits for PICs which would in turn, support the tourism industry. There are a range of simple changes in airline procedures such as reducing tarmac idling that can reduce jet fuel use, cut emissions and improve environmental health conditions and air quality for airport workers at little or no cost.

In terms of road transport, the Pacific Island region has seen second-hand vehicle imports rise exponentially over the last 60 years, largely occuring in a virtually deregulated environment. Improving the efficiency of imported vehicles, for example by introducing minimum CO2 emissions standards, can deliver quick wins in improving energy security, improving air quality and reducing operating costs for vehicle owners, as can incentivising further adoption of hybrid vehicles. There is a notable potential for the conversion of diesel fuel to biofuels, particularly from coconut oil (copra) and biomethanes, especially for isolated communities, which could eliminate transport costs and increase economic resilience through stimulating local markets and job creation. While most PICs have the resources to produce large amounts of coconut oil based fuels or bioethanol (SOPAC, 2007), and some successful trials have been conducted, an increase in the production of biofuels risks a range of significant trade-offs and may increase air pollution and water use, negatively impacting ecosystems. Shifting to biofuel blends requires costly engine modifications and can also increase costs and frequency of engine maintenance. Reducing demand for passenger transport has been identified as a no regrets action, though will require addressing behavioral change, cultural perceptions around the use of bicycles and motorbikes and increased incentives for public transport use and non-motorized transport.

Considering the small distances travelled via road in PICs, electric vehicles (EVs) powered by renewables present a significant potential and can be profitably deployed in urban areas and also within the many tourist resorts spread across the Pacific islands (Datt et. al., 2015). However, EVs also currently come at a significantly higher upfront cost, a key barrier to wide adoption. Further study of the current gaps and implications of a transition to electric transport is needed to assess how to ensure sufficient renewable energy supply, so that coverage of electric transportation is technically and economically feasible, and to assess the requirements for charging infrastructure and for the regulation of tariffs for electric transport. Recycling and disposal solutions for hybrid and EV batteries is also needed to avoid increasing waste emissions.

Table 4. Transport sector 'no regrets' or 'least regrets' actions

Road transport:

- Reducing transport demand
- Passenger transport modal shift
- Increase energy efficiency

Marine transport:

- Increase energy efficiency
- Fuel switch to low carbon shipping

Aviation:

Improve efficiency of aviation

2.3 Manufacturing and Industry sectors

Global evidence indicates that improvements in energy and material efficiency, as well as carbon capture and storage (CCS) in industry and manufacturing sectors may be identified as 'no-regrets' actions, with a wide range of adaptation, mitigation and sustainable development co-benefits and few negative trade-offs. However, due to small economies of scale and minimal industrialisation in the Pacific Island region greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions associated with the sector remain low. Further, the exact emissions contribution of industrial processes is difficult to estimate due to sectoral data gaps. Across the region, industry constitutes only 16% of regional electricity sales and is limited to those islands with forestry, agricultural and fishery industries (IRENA, 2013a). High transportation and raw material costs make entrepreneurship difficult to sustain, dampening economic growth opportunities. Poor energy access and high energy prices have also meant less investment in industry and manufacturing.

In Fiji, sugarcane processing makes up one third of industrial activity and is the country's primary export product (UNEP, 2013). Flji already uses bagasse (the residue from sugar cane processing) for most of its energy requirements within the sugarcane sector (UNEP, 2013). Though biofuel resources vary across the PICs, Fiji is one of the few countries with the capacity to produce commercial scale bioethanol from sugarcane that could replace diesel fuel based generators currently used in the manufacturing sector. There are opportunities for other industries, such as cement where kilns are often fired with imported coal, to switch to biomass (Rosillo-Calle, 2003). This would greatly help manage health risks and reduce air pollution. For high Pacific Islands, other forms of biomass resources derived from waste from agricultural and forestry industries such as palm oil and wood products offer suitable sources of energy to replace fossil fuels (IRENA, 2013a).

Though fuel switching offers a range of benefits, including economic savings from reduced reliance on imported fossil fuels, sugar cane production is known to have a wide range of negative environmental impacts. Water pollution from chemicals used in cane growing, sedimentation through soil erosion and waste from sugar production not only threaten the biodiversity of river systems and coastal areas but the cultures and livelihoods of the communities who rely upon them. Sugar cane production is additionally vulnerable to the impacts of climate change. The burning of sugar cane prior to harvesting may also produce more GHG emissions and reduces bagasse fibre availability (Davies, 1998).

For low lying islands with a natural abundance of coconut palms, coconut oil production could potentially contribute to biofuel should it become economically viable at a large scale. Sufficient biomass waste in the form of coconut shells and husks may become cost effective for generating heat for manufacturing purposes (IRENA, 2013a). However, most PICS do not have the land area available for large-scale palm plantations and come with additional environmental concerns (SOPAC, 2007). Biomass gasification is further being used on some islands for commercial copra, cocoa, coffee and tea drying (Marconnet, 2007). A key barrier is the current lack of quality standards for biofuels in the region.

In terms of natural resource extraction, with the exception of Papua New Guinea (PNG), which has substantial gas reserves, most Pacific Islands have no indigenous sources of natural gas or oil. In PNG's liquefied natural gas plant, energy efficiency measures are

already in place to ensure that waste heat is recovered and used as an energy source. Overall, for the industry and manufacturing sector in the Pacific, the potential for emissions reduction is negligible (UNEP, 2013). Where relied upon, a transition away from any existing diesel based generators in industry to electrification would have significant health benefits for workers though improvements in air and water quality and contribute to the protection of natural ecosystems.

Table 5. Manufacturing & Industry sector 'no regrets' or 'least regrets' actions

- Increase energy efficiency
- Improve material efficiency
- Reduce process and fugitive emissions

2.4 Electricity supply

Providing energy that is low carbon and also reliable, efficient and affordable underpins a wide range of both Pacific regional and national policies and plans, notably the Majuro Declaration, the Framework for Action on Energy Security in the Pacific 2010-2020 (FAESP) and the Framework for Resilient Development in the Pacific (FRDP). Increasing the uptake of renewable energy in the region can decouple economic growth from environmental degradation and reduce reliance on imported fossil fuels, in turn saving on energy costs, increasing economic resilience, increasing energy access and improving energy reliability. Barriers include:

- Unreliable grid systems on which to expand.
- PICs small size and isolated nature making it difficult to build, operate and maintain renewable energy systems.
- Expensive inter-island transportation for repairs and materials.
- The physical environment—storms, floods, salt-laden winds etc— stresses electronics and equipment, requiring more frequent repair and replacement.
- A lack of human resources and trained personnel for managing the systems limits local capacity for repairs and maintenance.
- Uncertainties, particularly around the costs and benefits around certain renewable technologies, including environmental impacts require further research.

Despite a range of barriers to renewable energy (RE) uptake, PICs are emerging as renewable energy champions. Although PICs have considerable renewable energy potential, viable technology options are dependent on national circumstances, limited by land area, geological and hydrological attributes, wind and rain patterns, technical capacity, existing infrastructure and costs. This is particularly relevant for geothermal potential, which is only feasible on a few Pacific Islands (SPC, 2009b). There is a further notable gap in knowledge regarding the potential for wave / tidal energy development in the region, with more research needed. Although there are huge potential ocean energy resources, it has yet to be proven that wave or tidal energy can be tapped in a cost-effective manner to produce electricity for island grids. Similarly, offshore wind has not yet been developed in the region due to prohibitive cost barriers and lack of infrastructure. For onshore wind energy, adoption has been comparatively small, even though the relatively minor physical footprint of a wind energy system, low production costs and carbon neutral benefits make the technology appropriate for small island countries.

While not all PICs have hydro potential (UNESCAP, 2012), the technology has the potential to generate sufficient electricity to supply entire countries and is already supplying over 50 percent of electricity demand in Fiji, Samoa and the Solomon Islands. This has significantly decreased the costs of power generation and reduced reliance on oil, saving hundreds of millions of dollars on fossil fuel imports alone (ADB, 2017). Hydroelectricity generation is dependent on rainfall patterns and is vulnerable to periods of drought, which in turn can negatively affect water security and undermine energy security benefits (Goundar & Appana, 2017). Large scale hydro projects can have a further range of negative trade-offs and therefore require deeper investigation at a country level. Village scale hydro systems have notably fewer trade-offs, however the relatively high cost of maintenance and lack of local capacity has seen many remote mini hydro systems decommissioned (UNDP, 2017).

Solar photovoltaic (PV) is by far the most common renewable technology in the region, with its competitive price and proven wide range of adaptation, mitigation and disaster risk reduction benefits, notably in maintaining critical services after extreme weather events. However, as rooftop solar can be vulnerable to extreme weather when installed on non-traditional housing and roofing materials, community scale mini-grids may be more suitable for remote PICs. Though most renewable technologies are, to varying degrees, susceptible to natural hazards and extreme weather events, high quality, tested systems that have taken local contexts into consideration during the design process can demonstrate adequate resilience and minimise trade-offs. There are also opportunities for emerging cross-cutting solutions to clean energy supply through floating solar PV, which provides co-benefits for water resource management, by preventing water shortages through reduced evaporation.

With the addition of battery storage, solar PV has the potential to meet both peak and fluctuating demands for electricity. Battery storage also has the benefit of enabling resilient power system designs which allows upscaling of private sector investment in renewable energy (ADB, 2017). Disposal and recycling of solar PVs and batteries after their life-cycle remains an issue for remote PICs. Although many regions in the Pacific are already connecting large solar installations to their utility grids, without added controls, many grids and will soon reach maximum penetration levels (GIZ, 2016). Investment in upgrading transmission and distribution lines can reduce electricity losses, which are up to 50 percent in some PICs (UNDP, 2013) and enable a greater uptake of renewables.

Table 6. Electricity supply sector 'no regrets' or 'least regrets' actions

- Micro / mini hydro
- Geothermal
- Micro, mini and community scale solar PV
- Transmission and distribution efficiency improvements
- Battery storage

2.5 Non-energy / Land use

Mitigation actions in the land use sector have few trade-offs overall and can generally be considered 'no regrets' actions. Though most countries in the Pacific have become net food importers, agriculture remains an important source of income and employment in

the majority of Pacific island countries (UNESCAP, 2006). Food availability and accessibility are also among the first to be affected following climate disasters.

Traditional agricultural systems, including agroforestry and intercropping, have been practiced in the region for thousands of years (Shah et. al., 2016), ensuring food supplies were resilient to hazards and extreme weather events. However, a shift to a more modern food system in PICs has seen rising vulnerability to food insecurity and has contributed to deforestation. Education is critical to enable adoption of climate resilient agricultural techniques and ensure traditional knowledge of sustainable practices is retained, shared and implemented. Though there are a range of low-cost options both over the short and long-term that both improve productivity and provide resilience to extreme weather (World Bank, 2017), land tenure issues and potential time lags in agroforestry crops producing marketable products are key barriers.

The livestock sector similarly contributes significantly to the economies of PICs in terms of food security, employment opportunities and foreign exchange savings (SPC, 2009b). Demand for livestock products is growing due to population increases, increases in disposable income, rapid rates of urbanisation and the growth of the tourism industry, creating significant opportunities and challenges for PICs. Improvements in livestock management through provision of higher quality, climate tolerant feed quality and grazing management can improve pastoral productivity and animal health, resulting in improved economic resilience and food security while also reducing methane emissions from livestock.

Climate-smart agriculture can generate climate adaptation, resilience and mitigation benefits, such as improved food security, economic resilience, reduced vulnerability of ecosystems through reduced fertilizer use and increased carbon stores in soils.

One of the most effective methods to adapt to the impacts of climate change in the land use sector is through ecosystem based adaptation. Reforestation under REDD+ programs and avoided deforestation, including the protection and restoration of mangroves, can provide natural buffers to extreme weather events, prevent coastal erosion and sea level rise and sequester large amounts of carbon. Though Pacific Islands have small land and forest areas, reforestation projects form an important component of national mitigation actions. Not only do such projects reduce and remove carbon from the atmosphere, they can also provide additional income through the sale of forest carbon and will help to maintain ecosystem services including stable water supply, preventing soil erosion and biodiversity conservation benefits (SPC, 2103). The protection and restoration of mangroves additionally provides coastal Pacific communities with essential livelihood safeguards including improved fisheries and other subsidence opportunities. A weakening of traditional mangrove management systems and lack of capacity are key challenges to mangrove management in the Pacific (IUCN, 2009).

A further significant opportunity for no-regrets action lies in the waste management sector. Increases in waste levels in the Pacific Island region has resulted in illegal dumping, inadequate management of landfills, increases in the import and disposal of used cars, lack of adequate handling of medical and hazardous waste, poor economic viability of recycling and contamination of groundwater and seawater from sewerage (Pacific ACP, n.d). Well-managed landfill and wastewater treatment can not only lead to environmental protection and healthier communities, but also the capture and utilisation of biogas, which can be used to generate electricity, improve energy security and economic resilience.

Table 7. Land-use & waste sector 'no regrets' or 'least regrets' actions

- Carbon farming
- Improved livestock management
- Reforestation
- Avoided deforestation
- Protect and restore mangroves
- Improved waste management

3. Assumptions underpinning the SMART Matrix

3.1 Common assumptions

Classification of interactions:

The intensity and scale of the specific interaction (i.e. green, grey or yellow) between a mitigation action (y axis) and the associated adaptation or resilience outcome (x axis) is unquantified and based on the published Pacific or global evidence base contained within the Sector tabs. A green designation indicates that an interaction is positive (whether strongly or weakly positive), while a red designation indicates an interaction is either strongly or weakly negative.

Technology choices:

- It is assumed that technologies improve over time in both cost and energy efficiency, thereby reducing negative impacts.
- The lifecycle of technology choices is considered and it is assumed that technologies meet global standards for quality and durability.
- Technology choices are based on the operational context, are designed, installed and properly maintained to withstand predicted increases in the intensive and frequency of potential natural hazards (i.e. have undergone cyclone testing or water emersion where possible).
- Local capacity is available to install and maintain technology infrastructure as needed.

Barriers to implementation:

- It is assumed all barriers to implementation of mitigation actions (such as technology costs, capacity constraints, and supply chain limitations) can be addressed to capture the mitigation potential and adaptation and resilience co-benefits over the long term.
- Barriers therefore have not been considered in the assessment of interactions.

3.2 Sectoral assumptions

Buildings:

- Energy efficiency measures that improve the thermal efficiency of buildings also improve their resilience to extreme weather events.
- Urban planning for efficiency is only considered in relation to the mitigation outcomes it can deliver; broader socio-economic outcomes are excluded from the analysis.
- It is assumed that urban planning for efficiency is effective.
- Heating, ventilation, and air conditioning (HVAC) has been installed to meet global best practice protocols.
- Biofuels do not compete with land required to maintain food security and related livelihood activities.

Transport:

- A switch to electric vehicles (EVs) does not increase overall vehicle imports.
- EVs are powered by renewable energy and therefore do not result in an increase in emissions from electricity generation.
- Introducing energy efficiency measures for transport does not cause increased reliance on combustion engines where EV options may exist.
- Given land constraints, for the majority of PICs a high uptake of biofuels for road transport and aviation will be dependent on imported biofuel manufactured in other countries.
- Biofuels therefore do not compete with land required to maintain food security and related livelihood activities.
- For shipping, if there are no methane fugitive emissions from fuel switching to Liquefied Natural Gas (LNG). Switch to biofuels not included (covered in low carbon electricity).

Manufacturing and industry:

- For manufacturing and industry, increases in efficiency do not increase productivity in a way that increases use of natural resources.
- Biofuels do not compete with land required to maintain food security and related livelihood activities.
- Where possible, second generation biofuels are preferred, which can also support waste management efforts.

Low carbon electricity:

- Additional renewable energy capacity can be provided to meet increased electricity demand from fuel switching to electricity across all sectors.
- Interventions are implemented to global best practice standards.
- All new infrastructure is assumed to meet global standards in relation to design, installation and maintenance to withstand predicted increases in the intensive and frequency of potential natural hazards (i.e. have undergone cyclone testing or water immersion where possible)
- For geothermal is assumed that no fracking is involved.
- For transmission and distribution efficiency, impacts vary significantly depending on whether constructed underground or above ground.

Land use and non-energy emission sequestration through LULUCF:

- Arable or forest land is not converted to landfill.
- Reforestation and pastoral/agricultural improvement activities will not compete with critical agriculturally productive land without thorough consideration (for water and soil quality gains).
- For livestock management, although productivity increases, the number of animals does not.

4. References

ABC, 2015. New study finds algae reduces bovine 'burping' and cuts greenhouse gas emissions. www.abc.net.au/news/rural/2015-10-19/algae-reduces-bovine-burping-and-cuts-greenhouse-gas-emissions/6867066

ADB, 2017. Pacific Energy Update.

www.adb.org/sites/default/files/institutional-document/320401/pacific-energy-update-2017.pdf

ADB, 2016. Economic Growth and Sustainable Development in the Pacific Island Countries. www.adb.org/sites/default/files/publication/219266/adbi-pb2016-6.pdf

ADB, 2016b. Pacific Project Brief. Samoa Transmission and Distribution Upgrade. www.adb.org/sites/default/files/publication/228886/samoa-transmission-distribution-project-brief.pdf

ADB, 2013. Technical Assistance Report. Republic of Fiji: Transport Sector Planning and Management.

www.adb.org/sites/default/files/project-document/79458/47233-001-tar.pdf

ADB, 2011. REG: Promoting Energy Efficiency in the Pacific (Phase I). www.adb.org/sites/default/files/project-document/74740/42078-012-reg-tacr.pdf

Akpan, N. 2015. These 7 simple airplane fixes could cut carbon emissions in half at little to no cost.

<u>www.pbs.org/newshour/science/these-7-simple-airplane-fixes-could-halve-carbon-emissions-at-little-to-no-cost</u>

American Geosciences Institute, 2018. What are the advantages and disadvantages of offshore wind farms?

<u>www.americangeosciences.org/critical-issues/faq/what-are-advantages-and-disadvantages-offshore-wind-farms</u>

Alliance of Small Island States (AOSIS, 2014). Tackling the Challenge of Climate Change. A Near-Term Actionable Mitigation Agenda.

www.aosis.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/09/Tackling-Climate-Change-K.pdf

Australasian Transport Research Forum (ATRF), 2016. Collecting transport and travel data in the Pacific Islands – Fiji's first national household travel survey. atrf.info/papers/2016/files/ATRF2016 Full papers resubmission 217.pdf

Australian PV Association, 2011. APVA Response to James Cook University Cyclone Testing Unit Solar Panel Alert, March 2011.

apvi.org.au/sites/default/files/documents/APVA%20Submissions/PV%20in%20Cyclones.pdf

Betzold, A. 2016. Fuelling Small Island States: Renewable Energy and Aid Across Pacific Island Countries.

www.researchgate.net/publication/290481219 Fuelling the Pacific Aid for renewable energy across Pacific Island countries

Bhikabhai, Y. 2005. Hybrid Power Systems and their Potential in the Pacific Islands. docs.niwa.co.nz/library/public/SMR406.pdf

Bola, A., 2017. Potential for sustainable sea transport: A case study of the Southern Lomaiviti, Fiji islands. Marine Policy, 75, pp.260-270. <u>isiarticles.com/bundles/Article/pre/pdf/85880.pdf</u>

Bosshard, P., 2011. Why Big Dams Are the Wrong Response to Climate Change. A Critique of the IPCC Special Report on Renewable Energy Sources and Climate Change Mitigation. International Rivers.

Burger, A. 2017. Solar Energy Storage Resilience: On the Ground in Haiti. September 20, 2017 solarmagazine.com/solar-energy-storage-resilience-on-the-ground-in-haiti

Bruzek, C.E., Allais, A., Dickson, D., Lallouet, N., Allweins, K. and Marzahn, E., 2015. Superconducting DC cables to improve the efficiency of electricity transmission and distribution networks: An overview. In Eco-Friendly Innovation in Electricity Transmission and Distribution Networks (pp. 135-167). www.sciencedirect.com/book/9781782420101/eco-friendly-innovations-in-electricity-transmission-and-distribution-networks

Bureau of Ocean Energy Management, 2018. Offshore Wind Energy. www.boem.gov/Renewable-Energy-Program/Renewable-Energy-Guide/Offshore-Wind-Energy.aspx

CABI Forest Science Database, 2018. Importance of agroforestry systems in carbon sequestration.

www.cabi.org/forestscience/news/65086

Cain, J. H., Banks, D., Cermak P. P., 2015. Wind Loads on Utility Scale Solar PV Power Plants. www.cppwind.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/01/Wind-Loads-on-Utility-Scale-Solar-PV-Power-Plants DBanks 2015.pdf

CD4CDM, 2014. Disseminating Solar lamps and efficient cook stoves. pacific.acp-cd4cdm.org/cdm-projects-in-pacific-islands/disseminating-solar-lamps-and-efficient-cook-stoves---poa--(pin).aspx

Cepeda, M.A. and Pereira, N.D., 2017. The Use of Low Carbon Technology in Maritime Industry as Alternatives to Climate Change.

www.researchgate.net/profile/Newton Pereira2/publication/320383182 The use of low carbon technology in maritime industry as alternatives to climate change/links/5a50d707aca2725638c569cd/The-use-of-low-carbon-technology-in-maritime-industry-as-alternatives-to-climate-change.pdf

Chel, A. and Kaushik, G., 2017. Renewable energy technologies for sustainable development of energy efficient building. Alexandria Engineering Journal. www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1110016817300911

Clean Energy Council, 2017. Battery Storage Recommendations. www.energymatters.com.au/renewable-news/battery-storage-recommendations-clean-energy-em6052/

Climate Action Pacific Partnership (CAPP), 2017. Accelerating Climate Action in the Pacific: Outcomes Report. Climate Action Pacific Partnership Conference, 3-4 July 2017. Suva, Fiji. cop23.com.fi/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/CAPP - Outcomes Report FINAL Oct2017 final1.pdf

Climate Home News, 2013. Masdar opens 6MW wind farm in Seychelles. www.climatechangenews.com/2013/06/18/masdar-opens-6mw-wind-farm-in-seychelles/

ClimateWorks Australia (CWA), 2014. Improving Australia's Light Vehicle Fuel Efficiency. climateworksaustralia.org/sites/default/files/documents/publications/climateworks vehicle e fficiency standards briefing paper feb2014 0.pdf

ClimateWorks Australia (CWA), 2013. Industrial Energy Efficiency Data Analysis Project. Executive Summary, May 2013.

<u>climateworksaustralia.org/sites/default/files/documents/publications/climateworks_dret_ieed</u> a factsheet_summary_20130521.pdf

Conrad, M.D., Olis, D., Ness, J.E. and Esterly, S., 2015. Republic of the Marshall Islands. Energy Project Development Options and Technical Assessment (2013) (No. NREL/TP-7A40-60555). National Renewable Energy Lab.(NREL), Golden, CO (United States).

<u>www.doi.gov/sites/doi.gov/files/uploads/RMI-Energy-Project-Development-Options-September-2015.pdf</u>

CSIRO, 2014. Field Measurements of Fugitive Emissions from Equipment and Well Casings in Australian Coal Seam Gas Production Facilities. June, 2014.

www.environment.gov.au/climate-change/climate-science-data/greenhouse-gas-measurement/publications/csg-fugitive-emissions

CSIRO, 2017. What does science tell us about fugitive methane emissions from unconventional gas? May, 2017. www.csiro.au/~/media/EF/Files/Fugitive-methane-emissions-from-unconventional-gas-2017-05.pdf

Cunningham, S.C., Mac Nally, R., Baker, P.J., Cavagnaro, T.R., Beringer, J., Thomson, J.R. and Thompson, R.M., 2015. Balancing the environmental benefits of reforestation in agricultural regions. Perspectives in plant ecology, evolution and systematics, 17(4), pp.301-317. www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1433831915000463

Davies, J. 1998. The causes and consequences of cane burning in Fiji's sugar belt. The Journal of Pacific Studies, Volume 22, 1998, 1–25. repository.usp.ac.fj/8515/1/davies.pdf

Davis, M. and Clemmer, S., 2014. Power failure: How climate change puts our electricity at risk—and what we can do. Union of Concerned Scientists.

www.ucsusa.org/sites/default/files/legacy/assets/documents/Power-Failure-How-Climate-Change-Puts-Our-Electricity-at-Risk-and-What-We-Can-Do.pdf

Davis, S.J. et al, 2018. Net-zero emissions energy systems. Science, 360(6396), eaas9793. 2018. science.sciencemag.org/content/sci/360/6396/eaas9793.full.pdf

DeGunther, R. 2014. Advantages of Utility-Scale Solar.

www.sandiegocounty.gov/content/dam/sdc/pds/ceqa/Soitec-Documents/Final-EIR-Files/references/2014-08-13-Rik-DeGunther-8-Minute-EnergySolar-White-Paper-Webpage.pdf

Energy Matters, 2017. Solar powered refrigerators protect vaccines in cyclone-hit Fiji. May 12, 2017. www.energymatters.com.au/renewable-news/solar-powered-refrigerators-vaccines-fijiem6035/

Ergon, 2018. Solar Power Safety.

www.ergon.com.au/network/safety/home-safety/solar-power-safety

European Commission, 2013. Science for Environmental Policy. Linking mitigation and adaptation could make forest projects more effective ec.europa.eu/environment/integration/research/newsalert/pdf/42si3 en.pdf

European Commission, 2018. Reducing emissions from the shipping sector. ec.europa.eu/clima/policies/transport/shipping en

Farrell, T. 2015. Appliance labelling and standards in the Pacific Islands. Copenhagen Centre on Energy Efficiency.

www.iea.org/media/workshops/2015/egrdoct/11Farrell DTU.pdf

Fairbairn, T. 1994. Pacific Islands Economies: Trade Patterns and Some Observations on Trade Policy Issues.

<u>nautilus.org/trade-and-environment/pacific-islands-economies-trade-patterns-and-some-observations-on-trade-policy-issues-4/</u>

FAO, 2016. Reducing enteric methane for improving food security and livelihoods. www.fao.org/3/a-i5902e.pdf

FAO, 2017. Livestock solutions for climate change. www.fao.org/3/a-i8098e.pdf

FAO, no date. Climate Change and Food Security in Pacific Island Countries: Issues and Requirements.

www.fao.org/tempref/docrep/fao/011/i0530e/i0530e01.pdf

FAO, no date. Grazing Livestock in Southwest Pacific. www.fao.org/docrep/004/w9676e/W9676E03.htm

Gilbert, P. et al, 2017. The role of material efficiency to reduce CO2 emissions during ship manufacture: a life cycle approach. Marine Policy, 75, pp.227-237. www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0308597X1630077X

Gilman, E.L. et al, 2006. Adapting to Pacific Island mangrove responses to sea level rise and climate change. Climate Research, 32(3), pp.161-176. eprints.utas.edu.au/3059/1/climate Research 2006.pdf

GIZ, 2016. Off-Grid Solar Installations in the Pacific Region A Workshop Report. www.pacificclimatechange.net/sites/default/files/documents/GIZ-ACSE Off-Grid%20Solar%20Installations%20in%20the%20Pacific%20Region.pdf

Global Alliance for Clean Cookstoves, 2018. Country Level Data. <u>cleancookstoves.org/country-profiles/all.html</u>

Global Green Growth Institute (GGGI) & Ministry Of Economy (MoE), 2017. Fiji NDC Implementation Roadmap 2017-2030.

cop23.com.fj/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/FIJI-NDC-IMPLEMENTATION-ROADMAP LOWRES.pdf

Gouldson, A. et al, 2018. The Economic and Social Benefits of Low-Carbon Cities: A Systematic Review of the Evidence. ledsgp.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/The-Economic-and-Social-Benefits-of-Low-Carbon-Cities-A-systematic-review-of-the-evidence.pdf

Goundar, S. and Appana, S., 2017. Mainstreaming Development Policies for Climate Change in Fiji: A Policy Gap Analysis and the Role of ICTs. In Environmental Sustainability and Climate Change Adaptation Strategies (pp. 1-31). IGI Global.

www.researchgate.net/profile/Sam Goundar/publication/310517948 Mainstreaming Development Policies for Climate Change in Fiji A Policy Gap Analysis and the Role of ICTs/links/5831552208aef19cb818fb01/Mainstreaming-Development-Policies-for-Climate-Change-in-Fiji-A-Policy-Gap-Analysis-and-the-Role-of-ICTs.pdf?origin=publication_detail

Government of Australia (GoA), 2011. The second international food and fuel price shock and Forum island economies.

static.treasury.gov.au/uploads/sites/1/2017/06/02 Food and Fuel Price Shock.pdf

Government of Australia (GoA), 2015. Case study - Reducing Emissions from Livestock Research Program.

www.agriculture.gov.au/ag-farm-food/climatechange/climate/communication/factsheets-case-studies-and-dvds/case studies/case-study-reducing-emissions-from-livestock-research-program

Government of Western Australia (GoWA), 2017. Reducing livestock greenhouse gas emissions. Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development. 7 September 2017. www.agric.wa.gov.au/climate-change/reducing-livestock-greenhouse-gas-emissions

Government of Vanuatu, 2017. Building Code Review. ici.gov.ck/building-code-review

Harrison, M.T. et al, 2016. The concordance between greenhouse gas emissions, livestock production and profitability of extensive beef farming systems. Animal Production Science, 56(3), pp.370-384. <u>www.publish.csiro.au/AN/AN15515</u>

Hawken, P. ed., 2017. Drawdown: The most comprehensive plan ever proposed to reverse global warming. Penguin.

Herrero, M. et al, 2016. Greenhouse gas mitigation potentials in the livestock sector. Nature Climate Change, 6(5), p.452. www.nature.com/articles/nclimate2925

Holland, E. et al, 2014. Connecting the dots: policy connections between Pacific Island shipping and global CO2 and pollutant emission reduction. Carbon Management, 5(1), pp.93-105. www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.4155/cmt.13.78

Hussein, R.M.R., 2013. Towards sustainable urban transportation case studies. International Journal of Social, Behavioral, Educational, Economics and Management Engineering, 9, pp.1239-1247. waset.org/publications/16612/towards-sustainable-urban-transportation-case-studies

IEA, 2015. Making the energy sector more resilient to climate change. OECD / IEA, 2015. www.iea.org/publications/freepublications/publication/COP21 Resilience Brochure.pdf

IEA-ETSAP and IRENA, 2015. Hydropower Technology Brief. Technology Brief E06, February 2015 www.irena.org/documentdownloads/publications/irena-etsap-tech-brief-e06-hydropower.pdf

IMO, 2016. Policy and strategy for energy efficiency in maritime transport. Regional workshop on energy efficiency in maritime transport. Port Villa, Vanuatu. 12-14 December 2016. prdrse4all.spc.int/sites/default/files/16 regional workshop on energy efficiency in maritime a agenda item 18.pdf

International Climate Initiative (IKI), 2012. Pacific Islands Regional Policy Framework for REDD+. September, 2012.

IRENA, 2013. Pacific Lighthouses. Renewable energy opportunities and challenges in the Pacific Islands region. www.irena.org/documentdownloads/publications/tokelau.pdf

IRENA, 2013a. Pacific Lighthouses Report. Renewable Energy Roadmapping for Islands. www.irena.org/-/media/Files/IRENA/Agency/Publication/2013/Pacific-Lighthouse-Roadmapping.pdf

IRENA, 2013b. Pacific Lighthouses Renewable energy opportunities and challenges in the Pacific Islands region - Fiji.

www.sustainablesids.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/Fiji.pdf

IRENA, 2015. Fiji: Renewable Energy Readiness Assessment. Abu Dhabi: International Renewable Energy Agency. www.irena.org/-

/media/Files/IRENA/Agency/Publication/2015/IRENA RRA Fiji 2015.pdf

IRENA, 2016. Wind Power Technology Brief. http://www.irena.org/publications/2016/Mar/Wind-Power

IRENA, 2017a. Geothermal Power Technology Brief. September 2017. www.irena.org/-/media/Files/IRENA/Agency/Publication/2017/Aug/IRENA Geothermal Power 2017.pdf

IRENA, 2017b. Renewable Energy Benefits. Leveraging Local Capacity for Onshore Wind. www.irena.org/-

/media/Files/IRENA/Agency/Publication/2017/Jun/IRENA Leveraging for Onshore Wind Executive Summary 2017.pdf?la=en&hash=9E05D357E39A1E054583A3F3FB8820927C68233A

IRENA, 2018. Hydropower. www.irena.org/hydropower

IUCN, 2009. Mangrove Ecosystems for Climate Change Adaptation & Livelihoods (MESCAL) Project.

www.iucn.org/regions/oceania/our-work/nature-based-solutions/water-and-wetlands/pacific-mangroves-initiative/mangrove-ecosystems-climate-change-adaptation-livelihoods-mescal-project

IUCN, 2014. Wind Energy Production Low in the Pacific Islands. www.iucn.org/content/wind-energy-production-low-pacific-islands

Kewan Bond Pty Ltd. 2008. Greenhouse Gas Assessment. Papua New Guinea Liquefied Natural Gas Project. Prepared for Coffey Natural Systems Pty Ltd. December 2008. pnglng.com/media/PNG-LNG-Media/Files/Environment/EIS/eis appendix25.pdf

Lacey, F.G., Henze, D.K., Lee, C.J., van Donkelaar, A. and Martin, R.V., 2017. Transient climate and ambient health impacts due to national solid fuel cookstove emissions. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 114(6), pp.1269-1274. www.pnas.org/content/114/6/1269.full.pdf

Lehman, S. 2018. Implementing the Urban Nexus approach for improved resource-efficiency of developing cities in Southeast-Asia in in Southeast-Asia. City, Culture and Society. www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1877916617300541

Li, C., Cao, Y., Zhang, M., Wang, J., Liu, J., Shi, H. and Geng, Y., 2015. Hidden benefits of electric vehicles for addressing climate change. Scientific reports, 5, p.9213. www.nature.com/articles/srep09213

Lima, I. et al, 2008. Methane Emissions from Large Dams as Renewable Energy Resources: A Developing Nation Perspective. Journal of Mitigating and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change, 13(2), 193–206. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs11027-007-9086-5

Limberger, J. et al, 2018. Geothermal energy in deep aquifers: A global assessment of the resource base for direct heat utilization. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 82, pp.961-975.

www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1364032117313345/pdfft?md5=6271594a1f2065 e36d7738f51ea46ff5&pid=1-s2.0-S1364032117313345-main.pdf

Loy, H. 2014. A Sustainable Future With District Cooling in Temperate Climates. www.fgould.com/asia/articles/sustainable-future-district-cooling-temperate/

Lucas, H. et al, 2017. Critical challenges and capacity building needs for renewable energy deployment in Pacific Small Island Developing States (Pacific SIDS). Renewable energy, 107, pp.42-52. www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0960148117300290

Madronich, S., 2014. Atmospheric chemistry: Ethanol and ozone. Nature Geoscience, 7(6), p.395. www.nature.com/articles/ngeo2168

Marconnet, M. 2007. Integrating Renewable Energy in Pacific Island Countries. Victoria University of Wellington.

researcharchive.vuw.ac.nz/xmlui/bitstream/handle/10063/491/thesis.pdf?sequence=1

New Climate Institute, 2018, SCAN-tool v.2. ambitiontoaction.net/scan_tool/

Newell, A. et al, 2015. Sustainable Sea Transport for the Pacific Islands: The Obvious Way Forward. sustainable%20sea%20transport%20for%20the%20Pacific.pdf

Newell, A. et al, 2017. Turning the Tide: the need for sustainable sea transport in the Pacific. Marine Policy, 75, pp.249-259.

www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0308597X16000142

New Zealand Ministry of Foreign Affairs & Trade (MFAT), 2016. Pacific Energy Country Profiles. www.mfat.govt.nz/assets/Peace-Rights-and-Security/Pacific-Energy-Country-Profiles-2016.pdf

NREL, 2012. Strategies for International Cooperation in Support of Energy Development in Pacific Island Nations. www.nrel.gov/docs/fy12osti/53188.pdf

NREL, 2018. Valuing the Resilience Provided by Solar and Battery Energy Storage Systems. January, 2018. www.nrel.gov/docs/fy18osti/70679.pdf

Nuttall, P. et al, 2014. A review of sustainable sea-transport for Oceania: Providing context for renewable energy shipping for the Pacific. Marine Policy, 43, pp.283-287. www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0308597X13001358

OECD, 2018. Fuelling Maritime Shipping with Liquefied Natural Gas The Case of Japan. www.itf-oecd.org/sites/default/files/docs/maritime-bunkering-lng-japan.pdf

Oxfam, 2009. Adapting to climate change: How building stronger communities can save lives, create jobs, and build global security.

www.oxfamamerica.org/static/media/files/adapting-to-climate-change.pdf

Pacific ACP, nd. Waste Sector CDM - Potential Opportunities for Pacific Island Countries. pacific.acp-cd4cdm.org/media/322076/4-2 srikanth waste-cdm-potential report.pdf

Pacific Financial Technical Assistance Centre (PFTAC), 2010. Macroeconomic Impacts of Energy Prices in the Pacific.

www.imfconnect.org/content/dam/PFTAC/Documents/Useful%20Links/Regional%20Papers/PFTAC Energy Prices.pdf

Pacific Green Business Centre, 2018. Pacific seminar addressing aviation emissions. greenbusiness.solutions/pacific-seminar-addressing-aviation-emissions/

Pacific Green Business Centre, 2017. Blue Economy. greenbusiness.solutions/blue-economy/#1500712424341-3ee0ab60-8f88

Pacific Islands Report, 2016. Fiji PM: Building Codes For Construction To Be Optional. www.pireport.org/articles/2016/04/15/fiji-pm-building-codes-construction-be-optional

Parry, D. 2014. Coconut Oil Biofuel in the Pacific. large.stanford.edu/courses/2014/ph240/parry1/

Pojani, D. and Stead, D., 2015. Sustainable urban transport in the developing world: beyond megacities. Sustainability, 7(6), pp.7784-7805. www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/7/6/7784

Rao, N.D. et al, 2016. Impacts of small-scale electricity systems: A study of rural communities in India and Nepal. World Resources Institute, 2016.

www.wri.org/sites/default/files/Impacts of Small-Scale Electricity Systems.pdf

Reve, 2014. First wind farm on the Pacific island nation of Samoa.

www.evwind.es/2014/08/29/first-wind-farm-on-the-pacific-island-nation-of-samoa/47175

Reve, 2014. Wind Energy in the Pacific ISLANDS.

www.evwind.es/2014/05/13/wind-energy-in-pacific-islands/45370

Rosillo-Calle, F. and Woods, J., 2003. Individual Country Biomass Resource Assessment Profiles for Fiji, Kiribati, Samoa, Tonga, Tuvalu, and Vanuatu. prdrse4all.spc.int/system/files/TR0364 0.pdf

Santika, T. et al, 2017. Community forest management in Indonesia: avoided deforestation in the context of anthropogenic and climate complexities. Global Environmental Change, 46, pp.60-71. www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959378016305933

Schäfer, A.W. et al, 2016. Costs of mitigating CO2 emissions from passenger aircraft. Nature Climate Change, 6(4), p.412.

discovery.ucl.ac.uk/1477564/1/Schafer NCLIM(accpt).pdf

Schaeffer, R. et al, 2012. Energy sector vulnerability to climate change: a review. Energy, 38(1), pp.1-12. www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0360544211007870

Se4All EE Hub, 2014. Energy Efficiency Initiatives in the Pacific.

www.energyefficiencycentre.org/-

/media/Sites/energyefficiencycentre/Workshop%20Presentations/EE%20Hub%20Workshop,% 2016%20-%2017%20June%202014/Day%201/Session13 Farrell.ashx?la=da

SEPA, 2004. Guidance on the management of landfill gas.

www.sepa.org.uk/media/28986/guidance-on-the-management-of-landfill-gas.pdf

Sharma, A. 2017. Postcard from Fiji: Planning in a Pacific Island country. Queensland Planner, Volume 57 No. 1 (Autumn 2017). landscapeaustralia.com/articles/postcard-from-fiji-planning-in-a-pacific-island-country/

Shah, S., Senivasa, E., and Prasad, V., 2016. Policy initiatives to promote climate smart production systems.

<u>devpolicy.org/Events/2016/Pacific%20Update/4b%20Climate%20Change%20Adaptation%20and%20Education/4b_Shipra%20Shah_FNU_2016%20Pacific%20Update%20Conf.pdf</u>

Siemens, 2014. Hydropower on the Flji Islands.

www.siemens.com/innovation/en/home/pictures-of-the-future/energy-and-efficiency/power-transmission-hydropower-on-the-fiji-islands.html

Smith, D. 2017. Puerto Rican Solar Farms Heavily Damaged By Hurricane Maria. September 28, 2017. www.theweatherjunkies.com/single-post/2017/09/28/Puerto-Rican-Solar-Farms-Heavily-Damaged-By-Hurricane-Maria

SOPAC, 2007. Liquid Biofuels in Pacific Island Countries. prdrse4all.spc.int/system/files/mr0628 2.pdf

SPC & GIZ, 2015. Climate Protection through Forest Conservation REDD+ in Pacific Island Countries - Final Project Report. Ird.spc.int/spcgiz-qclimate-protection-through-forest-conservation-in-the-pacific-islandsq/studies-and-reports/doc_download/2377-spcgiz-redd-in-pics-final-project-report

SPC, 2009. http://www.irena.org/EventDocs/10.%20SPC.pdf

SPC, 2009b. Policy Brief 9/2009. Livestock in the Pacific. lrd.spc.int/publications/doc download/1031-policy-brief-9-livestock-in-the-pacific

SPC, 2011. Livestock & climate change in the Pacific island region. lrd.spc.int/pubs/doc download/1829-livestock-a-climate-change-in-the-pacific-island-region

SPC, 2013. Pacific Islands Regional Policy Framework for REDD+ theredddesk.org/sites/default/files/Pacific%20Islands%20Regional%20Policy%20Framework%20for%20REDD%2B.pdf

Spencer, B., Lawler, J., Lowe, C., Thompson, L., Hinckley, T., Kim, S.H., Bolton, S., Meschke, S., Olden, J.D. and Voss, J., 2017. Case studies in co-benefits approaches to climate change mitigation and adaptation. Journal of environmental planning and management, 60(4), pp.647-667.

depts.washington.edu/oldenlab/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2013/01/JEnvPlanMan 2017.pdf

SPREP & JICA, 2010. A Practical Guide to Landfill Management in Pacific Island Countries and Territories. www.sprep.org/att/publication/Landfill-Guidelines.pdf

The Climate Institute, 2014. Moving Below Zero: Understanding Bioenergy with Carbon Capture & Storage. April, 2014.

www.climateinstitute.org.au/verve/ resources/MovingBelowZero SpotlightReport April2014. pdf

The Conversation, 2015. Rebuilding a safer and stronger Vanuatu after Cyclone Pam. theconversation.com/rebuilding-a-safer-and-stronger-vanuatu-after-cyclone-pam-42181

Tidal Power, 2015. The Disadvantages of Tidal Power. tidalpower.co.uk/disadvantages-of-tidal-power

UNCTAD, 2003. Turning losses into gains: SIDS and multilateral trade liberalisation in agriculture. Case Study: Pacific Islands.

http://unctad.org/en/Docs/ditctncd20031p5 en.pdf

UNDP, 2013. Achieving Sustainable Energy for All in the Asia-Pacific. United Nations Development Programme Asia-Pacific Regional Centre.

www.asia-

 $\frac{pacific.undp.org/content/dam/rbap/docs/Research\%20\&\%20Publications/environment_energ}{v/RBAP-EE-2013-SE4ALL.pdf}$

UNDP, 2017. China's South-South Cooperation with Pacific Island Countries in the Context of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. Series Report: Renewable Energy. United Nations Development Programme in China.

www.cn.undp.org/content/china/en/home/library/south-south-cooperation/china s-south-south-cooperation-with-pacific-island-countries-in2.html

UNDP & UNEP, 2011. UN-REDD Lessons Learned Asia-Pacific.

wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/9659/-UN-REDD_Lessons_Learned_Asia-Pacific-2011EN_UN-REDD_LessonsLearnedAsia-Pacific_2011.pdf.pdf?sequence=5&isAllowed=y

UNEP, 2013. Emissions Reduction Profile: Fiji. June 2013. www.unepdtu.org/-/media/Sites/Uneprisoe/Publications-(Pdfs)/Emissions-Reduction-Potential/FINAL-Country-Profile-FIJI.ashx?la=da&hash=46A93442544E9ABCB9F34D257785E60C4BCBE1C7

UNESCAP, 2006. Economic and Social Survey of Asia and the Pacific. www.unescap.org/sites/default/files/11-sv06-chap2-PIC.pdf

UNESCAP, 2012. Pacific Perspectives on the Challenges to Energy Security and the Sustainable Use of Energy. prdrse4all.spc.int/system/files/escap pic energy security final - johnston oct 2012.pdf

UNFCCC, 2017. TEC Brief 11. Industrial Energy and Material Efficiency in Emission-Intensive Sectors.

unfccc.int/ttclear/misc /StaticFiles/gnwoerk static/brief11/c1e6a4c9438a4c8594186e5e0aa4 b480/b7ab66f873d84876bad27bc435ba32ce.pdf

United Nations Human Settlements Programme, 2012. Fiji National Urban Profile: Governance. www.fukuoka.unhabitat.org/projects/voices/pacific islands/pdf/1 Fiji National Urban Profile.pdf

US Department of Energy, 2018a. Wind Turbines in Extreme Weather: Solutions for Hurricane Resiliency. January 23, 2018. www.energy.gov/eere/articles/wind-turbines-extreme-weather-solutions-hurricane-resiliency

US Department of Energy, 2018b. Environmental Impacts and Siting of Wind Projects. www.energy.gov/eere/wind/environmental-impacts-and-siting-wind-projects

USAID & Resources to Advance LEDS Implementation (RALI), 2017. Addressing Climate Vulnerability for Power System Resilience and Energy Security.

ww.climatelinks.org/resources/addressing-climate-vulnerability-power-system-resilience-and-energy-security-focus

Verbeek, R.P. et al, 2011. Environmental and Economic aspects of using LNG as a fuel for shipping in The Netherlands. Delft: TNO. publication/100867/BTpZOR/TNO-RPT-2011-00166.pdf

WHEB, 2017. Sustainability, automation and the future of manufacturing. February 8, 2017. www.whebgroup.com/sustainability-automation-and-the-future-of-manufacturing/

World Bank, 2015. Enhancing Road Resilience in Pacific Island Countries: World Bank Assisting Adaptation to Climate Change. December 1, 2015 http://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/transport/brief/connections-note-29

World Bank, 2017. Climate and Disaster Resilience.

pubdocs.worldbank.org/en/720371469614841726/PACIFIC-POSSIBLE-Climate.pdf

World Bank, 2017b. Low-cost technology to improve aviation safety and efficiency: investment program brings modernized aviation information technology to Pacific islands. documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/172501488864629403/Low-cost-technology-toimprove-aviation-safety-and-efficiency-investment-program-brings-modernized-aviation-<u>information-technology-to-Pacific-islands</u>

World Economic Forum (WEF), 2015. Why small-scale hydroelectric plants benefit local communities.

www.weforum.org/agenda/2015/09/why-small-scale-hydroelectric-plants-benefit-localcommunities/

WWF, Pacific, 2018. Sugar Industry in Fiji. www.wwfpacific.org/what we do/better sugar deal/

Annex A: Adaptation indicators

Adaptation - is defined as any action taken to adjust to climate change.

Adaptation Action	Description
Relocate human populations to adapt to climate impacts	Supporting the relocation of human populations in response to rising sea level and related salt water inundation, or changes in flooding regimes and natural hazard occurrences.
Manage vulnerability to water shortages	Managing exposure to water shortages predicted through slow onset climate events such as drought or variable and unpredictable rainfall.
Manage vulnerability to food shortages	Managing potential for food shortages, particularly regarding reduced local and agricultural productivity, exposure to volatile food prices associated with imported food products or ability to extend the perishable life of food market chains via freezing, refrigeration or processing.
Manage vulnerable ecosystems	Managing vulnerable ecosystems and related food ecosystems that are sensitive to slow onset climate change or natural hazards.
Manage increased health risks	Managing the risk of preventable disease that may increase with excess temperatures and flooding events (e.g. vectorborne diseases such as malaria, water-borne diseases and increased heat-related health vulnerability)
Manage costs of climate impacts	Managing the cost of recovering from climate impacts such as cyclones and potential human relocation, including the costs associated with delayed action.
Manage exposure to extreme weather	Manage risks associated with increased frequency and intensity of climate-related extreme weather events such as cyclones, droughts, flooding and extreme heat days.
Manage risks of temperature rise	Manage multifaceted risks associated with global temperature rise (e.g. increased need for air conditioning, changes in seasonal weather patterns, agricultural and natural resource harvest timing and yields, crop suitability, ocean acidification and reduced fishery stocks).
Manage risks of flood	Manage risks associated with unpredictable and variable rainfall, including flash flooding.
Manage exposure to sea level rise	Manage risks associated with a rising sea level including salt water intrusion of bore water supply
Manage risks to economic productivity	Manage risks associated with current national economic activities, ensuring these market chains are compatible with IPCC predictions of future climate changes.

Annex B: Resilience indicators

Resilience - is defined as the ability to recover from climate events.

Resilience	Description
Climate resilient infrastructure	The ability of infrastructure systems to absorb disturbance and still retain their basic function and structural capacity.
Sustained energy security	The uninterrupted availability of energy sources at an affordable price. In a Pacific context, this includes a reduced reliance on imported fossil fuels, which in turn, saves import energy costs, creates economic growth dividend and can increase available income.
Economic resilience	The ability of the economy to withstand and recover from shocks.
Sustained food security	The adequacy, availability, stability, utilisation, safety and nutrition of food.
Healthy & biodiverse ecosystems	The capacity of an ecosystem to respond to a perturbation or disturbance by resisting damage and recovering quickly.

Annex C: Mitigation actions

Mitigation - is defined as actions taken to reduce, avoid or sequester GHG emissions

Description
Improved building fabric; more efficient systems, electronics and appliances.
Urban planning to enable efficiency
Shifting from gas / oil boiler to biomass or electric boiler; shifting from fossil fuels to solar thermal or electricity for HVAC, and from fossil fuels to solar or electricity for water heating
More efficient cookstoves that consume less fuel
Sustainable urban planning to reduce need to travel; behaviour change
Improved public transport (metro, bus rapid transit etc); cycling infrastructure.
Switch from internal combustion engine vehicles to hybrid of electric vehicles
Shifting petrol and diesel use to biofuels, either by increasing the proportion of biofuel in the fuel blend, or by converting existing internal combustion engines
Reducing fuel consumption of existing vehicles by improved maintenance or replacing with new more efficient internal combustion engine vehicles
Implement measures to improve the efficiency of marine fleet
Low carbon shipping options include switching to low GHG emissions fuels such as methanol, LNG, hydrogen, wind or nuclear
Improve efficiency of aviation
Fuel switch to biofuels or solar
Improve efficiency of processes, systems, equipment and appliances
Material efficiency in design and production; longer lasting

	products
Fuel switch away from fossil fuels	Moving from diesel and coal to biomass for process heat; shifting from diesel or gas to electricity.
Reduce process and fugitive emissions	Reducing process and fugitive emissions e.g. fugitive emissions from LNG production; process emissions from fertiliser production; clinker replacement in cement production; reduced refrigerant leakage
Low Carbon Electricity Supply	
Utility scale hydro	Provision of baseload electricity through utility-scale hydro
Micro/Mini hydro	Small scale hydro suitable for provision of electricity to a village or industrial precinct
Geothermal	Electricity generated from underground thermal energy.
Solar PV (micro, mini and community scale)	Electricity generated from the installation of solar PV on domestic or commercial buildings
Utility scale solar PV	Large scale solar PV system designed to supply electricity into the main grid.
Onshore wind	Large scale wind electricity generation on land.
Offshore wind	Large scale wind electricity generation, constructed in large bodies of water such as an ocean.
Wave / Tidal	Harnessing wave or tidal energy to generate utility-scale electricity
Transmission and distribution (T&D) efficiency improvements	Improving the efficiency of transmission and distribution infrastructure to reduce energy leakage and increase the ability to absorb greater levels of intermittent renewables
Battery storage	Battery storage to complement renewable energy and reduce issues associated with intermittency
Non-energy emissions / Land use	
Carbon farming	Best practice agriculture to increase carbon stores in soils, and reduce carbon emissions
Improved livestock management	Improved feed quality to reduce livestock enteric emissions
Reforestation	Reforestation under REDD+
Avoided deforestation	Protect existing forests from deforestation
Protect and restore mangroves	Protect existing mangroves or replant new mangroves.
Improved waste management	Improved waste management to reduce illegal dumping; aerobic landfill to significantly reduce methane emissions; landfill gas capture and utilisation

Contact us

This briefing paper was authored by:

Meg Argyriou Head of International Programs meg.argyriou@climateworksaustralia.org

International Program Manager sharna.nolan@climateworksaustralia.org

Aisha Reynolds International Project Officer aisha.reynolds@climateworksaustralia.org

ClimateWorks Australia Level 16, 41 Exhibition Street Melbourne Victoria 3000 +61 3 9902 0741 info@climateworksaustralia.org Published by:

ClimateWorks Australia Melbourne, Victoria, August 2018 © ClimateWorks Australia 2018 ISBN 978-0-9871341-5-8

This work is subject to copyright. Apart from any use permitted under the Copyright Act 1968, no part may be reproduced by any process without written permission from the publisher.

This briefing paper can be downloaded at www.climateworksaustralia.org





ClimateWorks Australia is an expert, independent adviser, committed to helping Australia transition to net zero emissions by 2050. It was co-founded through a partnership between Monash University and The Myer Foundation and works within the Monash Sustainable Development Institute.